
Pamela Carver, Clerk of the Board, REVISED 3.7.23 

TRUSTEES OF THE PUBLIC LIBRARY OF THE CITY OF BOSTON 

Special Meeting of the Trustees Finance and Audit Committee 

Tuesday, March 14, 2023, at 8:30 a.m. 

Via Zoom 

AGENDA 

I. Welcome

Evelyn Arana-Ortiz, Committee Chair

A. Welcome Remarks

B. Roll Call

C. Review and Approval of Meeting Minutes from January 10, 2023

II. NEPC Portfolio and Asset Allocation Overview

Sebastian Grzejka, NEPC Partner

A. Vote to Rebalance the Annual Spend (Pending Discussion)

VOTED:   “that, the Trustees Finance and Audit Committee of the Public Library of the City of 

Boston vote to rebalance the annual spend based on the recommendations presented and discussed 

with NEPC.”  

III. Vote to Approve Camera Purchase

Ellen Donaghey, Chief Financial Officer

VOTED:  “that, the Trustees Finance and Audit Committee of the Public Library of the City of

Boston approve the purchase of the Phase One iXH 150MP - 72MM (MKII) camera from The Digital

Transitions, Inc. of 35 West 35th Street 10th floor, New York, NY 10001 in the amount of Seventy Six

Thousand one hundred ninety dollars and zero cents ($76,190.00) with funding from the Library for

the Commonwealth.”

IV. Presentation of the Draft Tax Returns (IRS Form 990)

Ellen Donaghey, Chief Financial Officer

V. New Business

Evelyn Arana-Ortiz, Committee Chair

VI. Public Comment

“Please sign up for public comment the first 30 minutes of the meeting to support effective time management. On

occasion, additional public comments on matters formally on the agenda may be allowed at the discretion of the

Chair, and time permitting. C omments may alternatively be submitted in writing to the Clerk of the Board, no later

than one day in advance of the meeting,  for distribution to the Trustees at pcarver@bpl.org.”

VII. Adjournment

Evelyn Arana-Ortiz, Committee Chair

https://boston-public-library.zoom.us/j/85776982905
mailto:pcarver@bpl.org


Pamela Carver, Clerk of the Board, REVISED 3.7.23 

*Next meeting is scheduled on May 16, 2023 at 8:30 a.m. (subject to change) 

Trustees Finance and Audit Committee of the Boston Public Library 

Evelyn Arana-Ortiz, Committee Chair 

Navjeet Bal, John Hailer, Jeff Hawkins, Sen. Mike Rush, and President David Leonard 

Clerk of the Board, Pamela Carver 

This is an open meeting; the public is welcome to attend. 

Zoom: https://boston-public-library.zoom.us/j/85776982905 

Webinar ID: 857 7698 2905 

Call In: 301 715 8592, or 309 205 3325, or 312 626 6799 

https://boston-public-library.zoom.us/j/85776982905


TRUSTEES OF THE PUBLIC LIBRARY OF THE CITY OF BOSTON 

 

Pamela R. Carver, Clerk of the Board 2.28.23  1 

Meeting of the Trustees Finance and Audit Committee 

Tuesday, January 10, 2023 at 8:30 a.m.  

Held via Zoom 

MINUTES 

A meeting of the Boston Public Library Trustees Finance and Audit Committee was held virtually on 

Tuesday, January 10, 2023 via Zoom at 8:30 a.m.   

 

All members were present at the meeting:  Committee Chair Evelyn Arana Ortiz and Committee 

members: Navjeet Bal, John Hailer, Jeff Hawkins, Senator Mike Rush, and President David Leonard.   

 

Also, present were Boston Public Library staff including Chief Financial Officer Ellen Donaghey, Clerk 

of the Board Pamela Carver, other BPL staff members, and members of the public. 

  

Ms. Arana Ortiz presiding called the Meeting of the Trustees Finance and Audit Committee 

(“Committee”) to order at 8:35 a.m. The Committee Chair read the welcoming EDI statement and a roll 

call was taken and determined there was a quorum. Everyone was reminded that the meeting was being 

recorded and to sign up for Public Comment.  

 

The first matter of business was approval of meeting minutes of November 1, 2022.  With no comments 

or edits, the minutes were approved via a roll call vote.  

 

Ellen Donaghey reviewed the process of submitting the annual maintenance budget requests which 

include initiatives, reforms, and reductions. She noted there were a few new changes this year, and the 

City was currently only looking for the maintenance requests (and not reforms and reductions just yet) 

The BPL was scheduled to meet with the Office of Budget Management along with members of the 

Human Services Cabinet and the Mayor’s Chief of Staff’s office to discuss how our initiatives align with 

the Mayor’s priorities.  

 

Ms. Donaghey explained that the BPL would be submitting our maintenance requests by January 13th 

with both union contracts still not renewed yet.  The renewals should reflect a 1% increase when 

completed.   

 

Ms. Arana Ortiz recommended that the Committee members attend the annual City Council’s Ways and 

Means budget hearing with the BPL and requested the Clerk to send details as they were confirmed.  

 

David Leonard explained that one of the new goals of this budget process with the 75 city departments 

was to simplify the process at the early stages. The City did not ask teams to develop fully written 

proposals that may not be necessary.   It was meant to drive some efficiency in the submission process.   

In previous years, some versions of initiatives went forward, but a lot of preparation work was wasted or 

unnecessary for those that did not go forward.  This year there will be deep priorities conversations with 

relevant city colleagues. This includes someone from the Mayor’s Chief of Staff’s office, someone from 

the Human Services Cabinet, along with budget representatives and other stakeholders.  This means that 

we should have some tentative understanding of a shared vision of what is to move forward before we put 

in a lot of work into the detailed submission.   We do our own internal administrative due diligence on 

where we think there are opportunities for increased investment, reform, or continued ongoing 

improvements.  

 

Most of this work will be driving what will be a city submission and the other revenue sources that we 

can tap into or work with.  He added it also informs the broader set of needs.  There will be a more 

defined budget to review as we get closer to May.  



Pamela R. Carver, Clerk of the Board 2.28.23  2 

They moved onto the discussion and review of contracts.  Ms. Prindle, Head of Special Collections, 

explained the first vote was similar to a contract that the F&A Committee approved in 2017; to authorize 

trusted vendors for special collections work. Four vendors were presented who have significant 

experience working with on successful projects over time.   

 

The request was to have authorization to work with four vendors, up to $50,000 per vendor in any fiscal 

year without having to go through a procurement process.  She explained that in Special Collections, for 

several reasons the bidding process was not something that went through the RFP processes.  In many 

cases, there are only limited vendors who perform specialty work.  The four proposed vendors have 

already been vetted through former projects.   

 

Ms. Prindle reviewed each of the vendors and explained some of the work that they have done with the 

BPL.  

 

Daedalus works on the preservation, repair, and restoration of sculpture architectural ornaments.  They 

previously conserved and repatinated the bronze statue of Bacchante and Infant Faun in our courtyard. 

 

Gianfranco Pocobene Studios restores paintings, murals, and historic decorations.  He worked on the 

conservation of the Puvis de Chavannes’ Philosophy panel.    

 

Clark Fine Arts Services does specialized art handling, packing, and storage. They have worked with us 

in the past making custom enclosures for three dimensional objects and paintings particularly around the 

rare books moved in preparation for the renovation.  

 

US Art also does art packing, installation, and storage. They assisted with the transport of our Toulouse-

Lautrec’s works to the Museum of Fine Arts for our participation in that exhibition.  

 

Authorizing the use of these vendors would enable Ms. Prindle’s team, within the expertise in her staff,   

to do due diligence in terms of getting estimates and quotes but does not require the additional step of 

going through the procurement process beyond the work that her team would do.   

 

Ms. Arana Ortiz noted that these four vendors would be added to the full vendor list (which was provided 

in meeting materials).  

 

Ms. Arana Ortiz made a motion that was duly made, seconded, and,  

 

VOTED: “that, the Trustees Finance and Audit Committee approve the addition of: 

 

Daedalus Inc, 205-3 Arlington Street, Watertown, MA 02472 

Gianfranco Pocobene Studios, 193 Maple Street, Malden, MA 02148 

Clark Fine Art Services, 287 Newtonville Avenue, Newton, MA 02460 

US Art, 66 Pacella Park Drive, Randolph, MA 02368 

 

To the authorized vendor list recommended by the President and Head of Special Collections to 

perform conservation and other specialized collection work up to $50,000 per vendor in any fiscal 

year with no further procurement process.” 

 

Next, Ellen Donaghey noted as a point of clarification that they anticipated the Newspaper Image 

Processing Project contract to come in over $200,000 but the actual contract was much lower.  

 



Pamela R. Carver, Clerk of the Board 2.28.23  3 

Eben English, Manager of Digital Services explained that this was a contract to perform some post-

processing work on newspaper content that had been scanned from microfilm.  It allows the BPL to take 

content that was shared with an online genealogy company called MyHeritage and make it more 

searchable.  The BPL had a partnership with them a couple of years ago where we provided them access 

to our microfilm and they provided us access to their digitized images.  

 

Currently, there is additional work that needs to be done to make these images searchable, ingestible into 

our digital repository, and accessible on Digital Commonwealth.   This contract would allow us to process 

almost 600,.000 pages. It would be one of the biggest projects this department has done with newspaper 

microfilm.  The selected vendor was Apex CoVantage, LLC and funded by Library for the 

Commonwealth.  

 

The Committee discussed the content was mostly 19th century and early 20th century Boston newspapers 

and the duration of the project was roughly six months. They hoped to complete it within FY23. Mr. 

English explained that there are 7 million images from MyHeritage, so this initial project was only the 

beginning. The hope was to do a bigger project next year.   

   

David Leonard reminded the Committee that this was just one pilot among a bigger process of newspaper 

digitization.  Access to newspapers was one of the most requested services by other entities, libraries, and 

patrons around the state.  It was one major step forward to making our collections more accessible, more 

broadly.  

 

With no additional questions, a motion was duly made, seconded, and  

 

VOTED: “that, the Trustees Finance and Audit Committee of the Public Library of the City of 

Boston award contract to Apex CoVantage, LLC of 4045 Sheridan Avenue #266, Miami Beach, FL 

33140 in the amount up to but not to exceed Ninety-Six Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($96,000). 

This contract is to provide public access and long-term preservation of digitized newspapers and 

will be funded with Library for the Commonwealth Funding.” 

 

Ms. Arana Ortiz explained there was a request to increase the contract approval thresholds and she asked 

Ms. Donaghey to review what they currently are and explain the proposed changes.   

 

Ms. Donaghey explained they were looking to change some of the thresholds for when the Library is 

buying things on the Trustees side of funding.  Currently, under ten thousand dollars, management and 

staff just exercise their best discretion without needing approval.  Ten to Fifty thousand dollars we are 

authorized by the Trustees to buy off the state contract, the Mass Higher Education Consortium contract, 

or we bring to the Trustees .  We propose having the Trustees increase these figures from $0-$50,000 as 

often they are simple requests. She noted some recent examples of contracts that had fallen into this 

designation.   

 

The second change was to increase the amount for the Finance and Audit Committee to approve from 

$51,000 to $200,000  rather than having to go to the full Board.   Anything over $201,000 would go to the 

full Board of Trustees for their approval.   

 

Ms. Arana Ortiz, this vote would be a recommendation to the full Board to increase the thresholds as 

discussed.   Ms. Donaghey agreed to report on contracts that the BPL executes without Trustee approval 

on a regular basis.  

 

Ms. Arana Ortiz made a motion, that was duly made, seconded, and  

  



Pamela R. Carver, Clerk of the Board 2.28.23  4 

VOTED: “that, the Trustees Finance and Audit Committee of the Public Library of the City of 

Boston recommend the Board of Trustees approve an update to the contract limit thresholds 

requiring a review and vote by the Trustees Finance & Audit Committee and full Board of Trustees, 

with the new limits set as follows: 

 

$0 to $50,000 – no votes needed. 

$51,000 to $200,000 - Finance & Audit Committee votes to approve.  

$201,000 and up - Finance & Audit Committee reviews and recommends a vote to the full board; Full 

Board of Trustees votes to approve.  

 

Ms. Arana Ortiz asked for New Business for which there was none.  She asked  if there were any public 

comments.  

 

Amber DeAngelis, Research Services Team Leader at the BPL was very excited to see the newspaper 

project highlighted and wanted to reiterate that the work her department does handles a lot of the requests 

that come through working with the newspaper in microfilm.  A lot of that contributes to different 

scholarships around the world and in different fields.  Excited that these materials will be more accessible 

and thanked the Committee for their consideration and approval.    

 

With no further business, the meeting adjourned at 9:04am.  

 

 

Ms. Arana-Ortiz asked for Public comment for which there was none. With no further discussion, the 

meeting adjourned at 9:01 a.m.  

 

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

 

Pamela R. Carver, Clerk of the Board A meeting of the Boston Public Library Trustees Finance and 

Audit Committee was held virtually on Tuesday, January 10, 2023 via Zoom at 8:30 a.m. 

All members were present at the meeting: Committee Chair Evelyn Arana Ortiz and Committee members: 

Navjeet Bal, John Hailer, Jeff Hawkins, Senator Mike Rush, and President David Leonard. 

Also, present were Boston Public Library staff including Chief Financial Officer Ellen Donaghey, Clerk 

of the Board Pamela Carver, other BPL staff members, and members of the public. 

Ms. Arana Ortiz presiding called the Meeting of the Trustees Finance and Audit Committee 

(“Committee”) to order at 8:35 a.m. The Committee Chair read the welcoming EDI statement and a roll 

call was taken and determined there was a quorum. Everyone was reminded that the meeting was being 

recorded and that members of the public who wished to speak must sign up for Public Comment. 

The first matter of business was approval of meeting minutes of November 1, 2022. With no comments or 

edits, the minutes were approved via a roll call vote. 

Ellen Donaghey reviewed the process of submitting the annual maintenance budget request. This year the 

City was only requesting the maintenance submission and initiatives. In previous years, they had also 

requested potential reductions and potential revenue. The deadline for maintenance is 1/13. Initiatives are 

to be submitted after BPL management meets with our colleagues from the Office of Budget 



Pamela R. Carver, Clerk of the Board 2.28.23  5 

Management, the Human Services Cabinet as well as members of Mayor Wu’s staff. Library will present 

potential initiatives and discuss how these might align with the Mayor’s priorities. 

Ms. Donaghey further explained the initial maintenance submission would be relatively small as we are 

awaiting implementation of the new PSA rates. Those rates will be included during OBM’s review. The 

contract negotiations with AFSCME 1526 are on-going. 

Ms. Arana Ortiz recommended that the Committee members watch the annual City Council’s Ways and 

Means budget hearing with the BPL, which is typically available online through Boston City Council TV. 

She requested the Clerk send details as they were confirmed. 

David Leonard explained that one of the new goals of this budget process with the 75 city departments 

was to simplify the process at the early stages. The City did not ask teams to develop fully written prior to 

our vetting them with our colleagues at City Hall. This was meant to drive some efficiency in the 

submission process. 

In previous years, some versions of initiatives went forward, but a lot of preparation work was 

unnecessary for those that did not go forward. By talking with OBM, our Cabinet Chief and members of 

the Mayor’s staff, we should have some tentative understanding of a shared vision of what to move 

forward. We do our own internal administrative due diligence on where we think there are opportunities 

for increased investment, reform, or continued ongoing improvements. 

There will be a more defined budget to review as we get closer to May. 

The Committee than moved onto the discussion and review of contracts. Ms. Prindle, Head of Special 

Collections, explained the first vote was similar to a contract that the F&A Committee approved in 2017; 

to authorize trusted vendors for special collections work. Four vendors were presented who they have 

significant experience working with on successful projects over time. 

The request was to have authorization to work with these four vendors, up to $50,000 per vendor in any 

fiscal year without having to go through a procurement process. She explained that in Special Collections, 

for this type of work, we use vendors that are recognized experts in their field rather than going through 

an RFP process. In many cases, there are only limited vendors who perform specialty work. The four 

proposed vendors have already been vetted through former projects. 

Ms. Prindle reviewed each of the vendors and explained some of the work that they have done with the 

BPL. 

Daedalus works on the preservation, repair, and restoration of sculpture architectural ornaments. They 

previously conserved and repaginated the bronze statue of Bacchante and Infant Faun in our courtyard. 

Gianfranco Pocobene Studios restores paintings, murals, and historic decorations. He worked on the 

conservation of the Puvis de Chavannes’ Philosophy panel. 

Clark Fine Arts Services does specialized art handling, packing, and storage. They have worked with us 

in the past making custom enclosures for three dimensional objects and paintings particularly around the 

rare books moved in preparation for the renovation. 



Pamela R. Carver, Clerk of the Board 2.28.23  6 

US Art also does art packing, installation, and storage. They assisted with the transport of our Toulouse-

Lautrec’s works to the Museum of Fine Arts for our participation in that exhibition. 

Authorizing the use of these vendors would enable Ms. Prindle’s team, with the expertise in her staff, to 

do due diligence in terms of getting estimates and quotes, but does not require the additional step of going 

through the procurement process beyond the work that her team would do. 

Ms. Arana Ortiz noted that these four vendors would be added to the full vendor list (which was provided 

in meeting materials). 

Ms. Arana Ortiz made a motion that was duly made, seconded, and, 

VOTED: “that, the Trustees Finance and Audit Committee approve the addition of: 

Daedalus Inc, 205-3 Arlington Street, Watertown, MA 02472 

Gianfranco Pocobene Studios, 193 Maple Street, Malden, MA 02148 

Clark Fine Art Services, 287 Newtonville Avenue, Newton, MA 02460 

US Art, 66 Pacella Park Drive, Randolph, MA 02368 

To the authorized vendor list recommended by the President and Head of Special Collections to perform 

conservation and other specialized collection work up to $50,000 per vendor in any fiscal year with no 

further procurement process.” 

Next, Ellen Donaghey noted as a point of clarification that library staff had anticipated the Newspaper 

Image Processing Project bids would come in over over $200,000 but the actual contract was much lower. 

Eben English, Manager of Digital Services explained that this was a contract to perform some post-

processing work on newspaper content that had been scanned from microfilm. It allows the BPL to take 

content that was shared with an online genealogy company called MyHeritage and make it more 

searchable. The BPL had a partnership with them a couple of years ago where we provided them access to 

our microfilm and they provided us access to their digitized images. 

Currently, there is additional work that needs to be done to make these images searchable, ingestible into 

our digital repository, and accessible on Digital Commonwealth. This contract would allow us to process 

almost 600,.000 pages. It would be one of the biggest projects this department has done with newspaper 

microfilm. The selected vendor was Apex CoVantage, LLC and funded by Library for the 

Commonwealth. 

The Committee discussed the content, which is mostly 19th century and early 20th century Boston 

newspapers and that the duration of the project is projected to be roughly six months. They hoped to 

complete it within FY23. Mr. English explained that there are 7 million images from MyHeritage, so this 

initial project was only the beginning. The hope was to do a bigger project next year. 

David Leonard reminded the Committee that this was just one pilot among a bigger process of newspaper 

digitization. Access to newspapers was one of the most requested services by other entities, libraries, and 



Pamela R. Carver, Clerk of the Board 2.28.23  7 

patrons around the state. It was one major step forward to making our collections more accessible, more 

broadly. 

With no additional questions, a motion was duly made, seconded, and 

VOTED: “that, the Trustees Finance and Audit Committee of the Public Library of the City of Boston 

award contract to Apex CoVantage, LLC of 4045 Sheridan Avenue #266, Miami Beach, FL 33140 in the 

amount up to but not to exceed Ninety-Six Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($96,000). This contract is 

to provide public access and long-term preservation of digitized newspapers and will be funded with 

Library for the Commonwealth Funding.” 

Ms. Arana Ortiz explained there was a request to increase the contract approval thresholds and she asked 

Ms. Donaghey to review what they currently are and explain the proposed changes. 

Ms. Donaghey explained they were looking to change some of the thresholds for when the Library is 

buying things on the Trustees side of funding. Currently, under ten thousand dollars, management and 

staff just exercise their best discretion without needing approval. Ten to Fifty thousand dollars we are 

authorized by the Trustees to buy off the state contract, the Mass Higher Education Consortium contract, 

or we bring to the Trustees . We propose having the Trustees increase these figures from $0-$50,000 as 

often they are simple requests. She noted some recent examples of contracts that had fallen into this 

designation. 

The second change was to increase the amount for the Finance and Audit Committee to approve from 

$51,000 to $200,000 rather than having to go to the full Board. Anything over $200,000 would go to the 

full Board of Trustees for their approval. 

Ms. Arana Ortiz, this vote would be a recommendation to the full Board to increase the thresholds as 

discussed. Ms. Donaghey agreed to report on contracts that the BPL executes without Trustee approval on 

a regular basis. Ms. Arana Ortiz made a motion, that was duly made, seconded, and 

VOTED: “that, the Trustees Finance and Audit Committee of the Public Library of the City of Boston 

recommend the Board of Trustees approve an update to the contract limit thresholds requiring a review 

and vote by the Trustees Finance & Audit Committee and full Board of Trustees, with the new limits set 

as follows: 

$0 to $50,000 – no votes needed. 

$51,000 to $200,000 - Finance & Audit Committee votes to approve. 

$201,000 and up - Finance & Audit Committee reviews and recommends a vote to the full board; Full 

Board of Trustees votes to approve. 

Ms. Arana Ortiz asked for New Business for which there was none. She asked if there were any public 

comments. 

Amber DeAngelis, Research Services Team Leader at the BPL was very excited to see the newspaper 

project highlighted and wanted to reiterate that the work her department does handles a lot of the requests 

that come through working with the newspaper in microfilm. A lot of that contributes to different 



Pamela R. Carver, Clerk of the Board 2.28.23  8 

scholarships around the world and in different fields. Excited that these materials will be more accessible 

and thanked the Committee for their consideration and approval. 

With no further business, the meeting adjourned at 9:04am. 

Ms. Arana-Ortiz asked for Public comment for which there was none. With no further discussion, the 

meeting adjourned at 9:01 a.m. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Pamela R. Carver, Clerk of the Board 

 



P R O P R I E T A R Y  &  C O N F I D E N T I A L

BOSTON PUBLIC LIBRARY

MARCH 21, 2023

Sebastian Grzejka, CAIA, Partner
Alexandra Sollers, CFA, Consultant

MARKET AND 
PORTFOLIO UPDATE



-100

-80

-60

-40

-20 0 20

40

60

80

100

NEPC 
NPS SCORE3

74.2

324

352

2021 2022

2022 HIGHLIGHTS

1As of 10/1/2022. Assets in millions. AUA = Assets Under Advisement (advisory mandates). AUM = Assets Under Management (OCIO/Discretionary 
mandates) 2These ratings or awards may not be representative of any one client's experience with NEPC. Any rating or award is representative of NEPC's 
past performance only and is not indicative of NEPC's future performance, nor does it indicate an endorsement of NEPC. NEPC did not pay a fee in 
connection with these awards. 3In May 2022, NEPC received an NPS score of 74.2% on a range of -100% to 100%. Any score above 0% indicates more 
promoters than detractors.

 Sarah Samuels wins With 
Intelligence/The Allocator 
“Advisor of the Year” award 

 NEPC nominated for “Consultant of 
the Year” and for “Diversity” at the 
CIO Awards.

396
411

2021 2022

Clients Employees

Awards and Recognitions2

$1,371,237

$57,598

U.S. AUA U.S. AUM

NPS scores of 
50 and above 
are considered 
excellent

2022 Assets1

1



NEPC FOUNDATION & ENDOWMENT PRACTICE
DEDICATED PHILANTHROPIC PRACTICE GROUP OF 53 
PROFESSIONALS INCLUDING EIGHT PARTNERS

As of 10/1/2022

NEPC FOUNDATIONS & ENDOWMENTS

155 Funds  I Assets: $104 billion

ENDOWMENTS
60 Funds I $83 billion

AVERAGE ENDOWMENT
$1.4 billion

FOUNDATIONS
95 Funds I $21 billion 

AVERAGE FOUNDATION
$225 million

2



 Please save the date for our Investment Conference on Tuesday, May 9 and 
Wednesday, May 10

 We are thrilled to welcome you back to Boston this year at the Renaissance 
Boston Waterfront Hotel. 

 In addition to our dynamic speakers and breakout sessions, there will also be 
plenty of opportunities to network with your peers

 Registration and additional details will follow in the coming weeks. Please reach 
out to Sarah Winrow: swinrow@nepc.com with any questions

NEPC’S ANNUAL INVESTMENT CONFERENCE
SAVE THE DATE

3



P R O P R I E T A R Y  &  C O N F I D E N T I A L

EXECUTIVE 
SUMMARY

4



6.2%
7.3%

-6.7%

6.0% 5.4% 7.0%
5.6% 5.4%

-10.2%

2.2% 2.7% 4.8%

-15.0%

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

Jan-23 FYTD One Year Three Year Five Year Ten Year

Net of Fee Performance – as of January 31, 2022

Total Composite 60% MSCI ACWI (Net) / 40% FTSE WGBI

$64.9 

$- $4.0 

$68.9 

 $-

 $25.0

 $50.0

 $75.0

Beginning Market
Value

Net Cash Flows Investment
Earnings

Ending Market
Value

CYTD Change In Market Value In Millions

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Total Fund Asset Allocation vs. Policy

Large Cap Equity Small Cap Equity International Equity
Emerging Markets Equity Global Equity Domestic Fixed Income
Multi Asset

Overview of Portfolio and Considerations

• Asset Allocation
– The Fund is generally in line with long term target 

allocation, and we do not recommend changes to 
the allocation currently

– NEPC will work with the Committee and Staff on 
rebalancing for annual draw

• Performance
– Long term performance is strong on both an 

absolute and relative basis
– January performance benefited from active 

management, especially across equities, as the 
Fund outperformed the 60/40 Index by 60 bps for 
the month

TOTAL FUND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Current

Policy

5



Allocation

Market
Value ($)

% of
Portfolio

Policy
(%)

Performance (%)

1 Mo
(%)

FYTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

Inception
(%)

Inception
Date

Composite 68,875,892 100.0 100.0 6.2 7.3 -6.7 6.0 5.4 7.0 9.1 Jan-81

      60% MSCI ACWI (Net) / 40% FTSE WGBI 5.6 5.4 -10.2 2.2 2.7 4.8 -

  Total Domestic Equity 21,361,351 31.0 29.0 6.5 11.6 -5.9 10.2 9.3 12.1 12.4 Dec-10

    SSgA SRI S&P 500 8,668,983 12.6 6.8 8.6 -9.1 9.2 9.4 12.6 13.5 Jan-09

      S&P 500 Index 6.3 8.7 -8.2 9.9 9.5 12.7 13.5

    Diamond Hill Large Cap Class Y Shares 8,201,245 11.9 6.4 11.9 -5.5 9.2 7.8 - - Mar-17

      Russell 1000 Value Index 5.2 11.6 -0.4 8.5 6.9 - 8.1

    Segall Bryant & Hamill Small Cap 4,491,123 6.5 6.5 17.2 0.2 13.1 10.6 - 9.8 Jan-15

      Russell 2000 Index 9.7 14.0 -3.4 7.5 5.5 - 7.4

  Total International Equity 9,990,738 14.5 12.0 9.0 12.4 -2.5 8.8 4.3 - 5.5 May-14

    Earnest International Investment Trust Fund 9,990,738 14.5 9.0 12.4 -2.5 8.1 3.3 - 4.9 May-14

      MSCI AC World ex USA (Net) 8.1 11.3 -5.7 3.6 1.4 - 3.4

  Total Emerging Markets Equity 4,019,486 5.8 7.0 9.5 5.7 -17.7 -1.1 - - 2.6 Jun-19

    UBS EME HALO 4,019,486 5.8 9.5 5.7 -17.7 -1.2 - - 2.5 Jun-19

      MSCI Emerging Markets (Net) 7.9 4.7 -12.1 1.4 - - 3.4

  Total Global Equity 7,874,941 11.4 12.0 9.3 11.0 -5.9 - - - 20.9 Apr-20

    Impax Global Resource Optimization Fund 7,874,941 11.4 9.3 11.0 -5.9 - - - 20.9 Apr-20

      MSCI AC World Index (Net) 7.2 9.6 -8.0 - - - 16.3

  Total Domestic Fixed Income 20,069,825 29.1 32.0 2.9 0.3 -7.6 -0.8 1.3 1.8 2.5 Dec-10

    IR&M Core Bond Fund II 5,569,890 8.1 3.4 0.3 -8.2 -2.6 0.2 1.2 3.2 Mar-07

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index 3.1 0.0 -8.4 -2.3 0.9 1.4 3.0

    SSgA Treasury Inflation Protected Securities 3,938,818 5.7 2.0 -1.4 -8.4 1.1 2.6 - 2.4 Jan-18

      Blmbg. U.S. TIPS 1.8 -1.4 -8.4 1.1 2.7 - 2.4

    Manulife Asset Management 4,853,151 7.0 3.1 3.7 -5.2 -0.4 1.4 - 2.0 Jan-17

      Blmbg. Global Aggregate 3.3 0.5 -11.7 -3.9 -1.3 - 0.3

    State Street U.S. Treasury Index Non-Lending Common Trust Fund 5,707,966 8.3 2.7 -1.3 -8.6 - - - -5.8 Jun-21

      Blmbg. U.S. Treasury Index 2.5 -1.2 -8.5 - - - -5.8

  Total Balanced - GAA 5,559,551 8.1 8.0 5.2 6.0 -5.4 5.7 3.9 3.9 4.7 Jul-12

    PIMCO All Asset 5,559,551 8.1 5.2 6.0 -5.2 5.6 3.9 3.9 4.6 Jul-12

      PIMCO All Asset Index 3.0 2.0 -7.9 0.1 2.3 2.8 3.0

-PIMCO All Asset Index consists of 40% Bloomberg Aggregate / 30% Bloomberg US TIPS Index/ 10% S&P 500 / 10% HY / 10% JPM EMBI + TR.

-New Policy % targets as of 4/1/2020; Returns are net of fees.

Boston Public Library

TOTAL FUND PERFORMANCE DETAIL (NET)
January 31, 2023

6



P R O P R I E T A R Y  &  C O N F I D E N T I A L

MARKET 
OVERVIEW

7



2022 YEAR IN REVIEW
 Global equities delivered negative returns 

in 2022, due to central banks around the 
globe tightening monetary policies amid 
persisting inflationary pressures despite 
softening economic growth
‒ Domestic stocks had one of the worst years 

on record, with the S&P 500 returning -18.1%
‒ International developed-market equities fell    

-14.5%, while emerging markets had the 
largest drawdown at -20.1%

 The Federal Reserve raised the federal 
funds rate seven times in 2022 to combat 
inflation, ending the year at a range of 
4.25% - 4.50%
‒ Returns across investment grade bonds were 

negative for the year, as interest rates began 
to climb

 Commodity prices surged during the 
calendar year, fueled by supply constraints 
due to the war in Ukraine

-18.1%

-14.5%

-20.1%
-18.4%

-12.5%

-15.3%

-11.8%
-13.0%

-11.2%

16.1%

-0.3%

-25%

-20%

-15%

-10%

-5%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

Market Index Returns – Calendar Year 2022

8



MOST ASSET CLASS RETURNS WERE CHALLENGED
WORST ANNUAL RETURNS: 60/40 PORTFOLIO

60/40 Portfolio represents 60% S&P 500 and 40% U.S. Aggregate Bonds (post 1975) and 40% Treasury (prior to 1974)
Data calculated from 12/31/1936
Sources: S&P, Bloomberg, FactSet

9



ASSET CLASS CORRELATIONS SHIFTED
ROLLING CORRELATION BETWEEN THE S&P 500 AND TREASURIES 

Correlations are calculated based on a rolling 3-year time horizon
Source: S&P, Bloomberg, FactSet

10



U.S. HEADLINE AND CORE CPI REMAIN ELEVATED
ANNUAL U.S. CPI-U CHANGES

Sources: Bureau of Labor Statistics, FactSet 

Annual Change in U.S. CPI-U Subcategories

Food
+11.2%

Utilities
+33.5%

Transportation 
Services

+14.7%

Motor Fuel
+19.7%

Used Cars 
and Trucks

+7.4%
Shelter
+6.6%

11



THE MARKET EXPECTS NO RATE CUTS IN 2023

Source: FactSet

FEDERAL FUNDS FUTURES

The market implied peak Fed Funds rate increased to 5.4%. The 
market now expects rates to be elevated throughout 2023.

12



INFLATION AND FED FUNDS NEED TO CONVERGE
HISTORICAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN FED FUNDS AND INFLATION

Sources: U.S. Department of Labor, Federal Reserve, FactSet

13



2023 KEY INVESTMENT THEMES
NEPC MARKET OUTLOOK

Stagflation Trends

Recession Outlook

European Energy
Transition

China Reopening

U.S. Dollar Trajectory

Stagflation trends challenge the investment 
landscape and are the driving force for market 
dynamics

Changes in unemployment, wages, and service sector 
inflation will inform the likelihood and potential 
severity of a U.S. recession

Europe is on the clock to secure new sources of 
natural gas supply or face severe energy shortages

China’s reopening will have global implications for 
growth, trade, and inflation and may drive a 
consumer resurgence in China

U.S. Dollar strength reveals risks in the global 
financial system and is a  tightening of financial 
conditions

14



P R O P R I E T A R Y  &  C O N F I D E N T I A L

ASSET 
ALLOCATION 
UPDATE

15



NEPC MARKET OUTLOOK
REGIME SHIFTS CHALLENGE INVESTOR BIASES

The forty-year interest rate super cycle has ended, and capital
markets are only beginning to reflect an environment of higher
discount rates and an increased cost of capital

Interest Rate
Super Cycle

Central banks have transitioned from supporting investor
sentiment and market liquidity to suppressing inflation as their
primary policy objective

Elevated Inflation and 
Monetary Policy

New geopolitical trends in Europe and the Middle East are
straining commodity markets and supply chains while inciting
macro-economic stagflation trends

Geopolitical Trends

Higher volatility in inflation and economic factors have
increased stock-bond correlations and diversifying assets offer
greater value to a portfolio relative to the last decade

Portfolio Construction

16



THE END OF THE INTEREST RATE SUPER CYCLE

 The transition to higher levels of interest rates continues to progress 
with the effects rippling from the public markets to consumer finance, 
real estate, private markets, and the overall cost of capital
‒ The economic effect has yet to be felt as debt issuance and refinancings slow 

and weak balance sheets buckle from the pressure of higher interest rates

HIGHER DISCOUNT RATES HAVE A PROLONGED LAG EFFECT

Source: FactSet

17



STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION OUTLOOK

We have transitioned to an investment regime characterized by higher interest 
rates with central banks focused on managing inflation not investor sentiment

The outlook for investment-grade bonds has improved and is additive relative 
to existing strategic allocation targets for safe-haven fixed income exposure

Diversification and portfolio balance are critical and shifts in stock-bond 
correlation dynamics increase the relative benefit of diversifying asset classes

The emergence of stagflationary trends challenges the behavioral biases 
investors have been conditioned to expect over the last decade

18



12/31/22 Assumptions
Expected Return (10 Years) 6.3%

Standard Deviation 12.0%

Sharpe Ratio (10 Years) 0.19

BPL Current Policy

US Large-Cap Equity 22.0%
US Small/Mid-Cap Equity 7.0%
Non-US Developed Equity 12.0%
Emerging Market Equity 7.0%
Global Equity 12.0%
Total Equity 60.0%
US TIPS 7.0%
US Treasury Bond 7.0%
US Aggregate Bond 10.0%
Global Multi-Sector Fixed Income 8.0%
Total Fixed Income 32.0%
PIMCO All Asset 8.0%
Total Multi Asset 8.0%

ASSET ALLOCATION OVERVIEW
• The current strategic allocation is structured to utilize a diversified, total return approach        
• At this time, we are not recommending changes to the strategic targets

Within fixed income, the allocation 
is balanced across high-quality 
assets and yield seeking fixed 
income and has both domestic and 
global exposure.

The forward-looking return 
characteristics have improved from 
last year  since a year ago, as yields 
have shifted higher and equity 
valuations became more favorable in 
2022

Within equities, the exposure is 
balanced geographically and across 
market capitalizations.

12/31/21 Assumptions
Expected Return (10 Years) 4.6%

Standard Deviation 11.9%

Sharpe Ratio (10 Years) 0.17

19



ADD SHORT-TERM INVESTMENT GRADE CREDIT

Elevated inflation levels and tight monetary policy support a subdued outlook 
for risk assets

Look to build exposure to short-term investment grade credit as elevated 
yields support our outlook relative to risk assets

The outlook for investment-grade bonds has improved and can be considered 
in addition to existing safe-haven fixed income exposure

RATIONALE IMPLEMENTATION VIEW

 The opportunity for IG 
credit has improved as 
higher yields lift expected 
returns and our outlook for 
risk assets is more subdued

Short-Term 
IG Credit
Build exposure to short-term IG 
credit while sourcing from risk-
asset positions

Public Credit 
Portfolio Tilt: 
Bloomberg U.S. 1-5 Yr Corporate

Opportunity Cost: 
50% Bloomberg U.S. High Yield 
50% MSCI ACWI Index

20



IMPLEMENTATION

 Given current yields, NEPC recommends the Boston Public Library establish a 
3% position in Vanguard’s Short Term Corporate Bond Fund mutual fund
(VSTBX)
‒ Proposal locks in attractive yields and takes risk off the table by reducing exposure to 

risk assets and moving the portfolio further up the capital stack
 Full rebalance recommendation included on the following page

Fund 
Vehicle / 

Ticker
Fee Yield Duration

Trailing 1 Year 
Returns

Trailing 3 Year 
Returns

Trailing 5 Year 
Returns

Vanguard Short-Term 
Corporate Bond Fund 

Mutual 
Fund/ 

(VSTBX)
0.01% 5.21% 2.7 -3.4% -0.9% 1.5%

*All performance figures as of 2/28/2023

21



Boston Public Library

Asset Allocation Rebalance Summary

 
Market Value 

Current 
Weight
in Fund Target Weight Over/ Under%  Recommendation  New Market Value New Weight

Composite $64,873,771 88.9% 100.0% -9.5% -$3,872,953 $61,000,818 100.0%

Total US Equity $20,044,356 30.9% 29.0% 1.9% -$2,300,000 $17,744,356 29.1%

SSgA SRI S&P 500 $8,119,607 12.5% 11.0% 1.5% -$1,700,000 $6,419,607 10.5%
Diamond Hill Large Cap $7,710,391 11.9% 11.0% 0.9% -$600,000 $7,110,391 11.7%
Segall Bryant Small Cap $4,214,358 6.5% 7.0% -0.5% $0 $4,214,358 6.9%

Total Non US Equity $12,831,161 19.8% 19.0% -4.9% -$1,300,000 $11,531,161 18.9%

Earnest International Equity $9,161,893 14.1% 12.0% 2.1% -$1,600,000 $7,561,893 12.4%
UBS Emerging Markets HALO $3,669,268 5.7% 7.0% -1.3% $300,000 $3,969,268 6.5%

Total Global Equity $7,204,027 11.1% 12.0% -4.7% $0 $7,204,027 11.8%

Impax $7,204,027 11.1% 12.0% -0.9% $0 $7,204,027 11.8%

Total Fixed Income $19,510,694 30.1% 32.0% -1.9% $200,000 $19,710,694 32.3%

IRM Core Bond $5,383,733 8.3% 10.0% -1.7% $0 $5,383,733 8.8%
SSgA TIPS $3,860,914 6.0% 7.0% -1.0% $0 $3,860,914 6.3%
SSgA Treasury $5,557,981 8.6% 7.0% 1.6% -$400,000 $5,157,981 8.5%
Manulife $4,708,066 7.3% 8.0% -0.7% -$1,200,000 $3,508,066 5.8%
Vanguard Short Corporate (VSTBX) $0 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% $1,800,000 $1,800,000 3.0%

Total Multi Asset $5,283,533 8.1% 8.0% 0.1% -$472,953 $4,810,580 7.9%

PIMCO All Asset $5,283,533 8.1% 8.0% 0.1% -$472,953 $4,810,580 7.9%

January 31, 2023

RECOMMEND REBALANCE FOR ANNUAL SPEND

22



Asset Class
12/31/22

10-Year Return
12/31/21

10-Year Return
Delta

Cash 4.0% 1.5% +2.5%
U.S. Inflation 2.5% 2.4% +0.1%

Equity

U.S. Large-Cap Equity 5.4% 4.3% +1.1%
Non-U.S. Developed Equity 5.6% 5.2% +0.4%
Emerging Market Equity 9.6% 8.3% +1.3%
Global Equity* 6.3% 5.4% +0.9%
Private Equity* 9.2% 9.0% +0.2%

Fixed 
Income

US Treasury Bond 4.2% 1.5% +2.7%
US Municipal Bond 4.4% 1.6% +2.8%
US Aggregate Bond* 4.8% 2.0% +2.8%
US TIPS 4.4% 1.4% +3.0%
US High Yield Corporate Bond 7.1% 3.2% +3.9%
Private Debt* 8.8% 6.6% +2.2%

Real
Assets

Commodity Futures 4.2% 0.4% +3.8%
REIT 6.2% 4.5% +1.7%
Gold 5.1% 3.3% +1.8%
Real Estate - Core 4.0% 4.7% -0.7%
Private Real Assets - Infrastructure 6.6% 5.3% +1.3%

Multi-
Asset

60% S&P 500 & 40% U.S. Aggregate 5.4% 3.7% +1.7%
60% MSCI ACWI & 40% U.S. Agg. 6.0% 4.4% +1.6%
Hedge Fund* 6.5% 4.2% +2.3%

CORE ASSET CLASS RETURN ASSUMPTIONS

*Calculated as a blend of other asset classes

23



P R O P R I E T A R Y  &  C O N F I D E N T I A L

APPENDIX

24



 Inflation is a key building block to develop asset class assumptions

 Inflation assumptions are model-driven and informed by multiple
inputs for both the U.S. and global assets
‒ Includes forecasts from international organizations (e.g. IMF), local consumer 

and producer price indices, global interest rate curves, and break-even 
inflation expectations

 NEPC’s U.S. inflation expectations reflect stickier inflation over the
near-term, but a stable inflation outlook over the long-term
‒ We anticipate continued volatility among inflation measures as market-based 

inflation expectations diverge from current consumer inflation metrics

INFLATION ASSUMPTIONS
OVERVIEW

Region
10-Year Inflation 

Assumption
30-Year Inflation 

Assumption

United States 2.5% 2.6%

25



Past performance is no guarantee of future results.

The goal of this report is to provide a basis for monitoring financial markets. The opinions presented herein
represent the good faith views of NEPC as of the date of this report and are subject to change at any time.

Information on market indices was provided by sources external to NEPC. While NEPC has exercised
reasonable professional care in preparing this report, we cannot guarantee the accuracy of all source
information contained within.

All investments carry some level of risk. Diversification and other asset allocation techniques do not ensure
profit or protect against losses.

This report is provided as a management aid for the client’s internal use only. This report may contain
confidential or proprietary information and may not be copied or redistributed to any party not legally entitled
to receive it.

INFORMATION DISCLAIMER

26


















































































	FA Agenda 3.14.23 REVISED
	FA Draft Minutes 1.10.23
	2023 03 NEPC Board Update
	DRAFT-Form990 tax return-FY22



